State of West Virginia Respondent Consolidated Case on Certified Questions from the Circuit Court of Fayette County

٧.

Justin K. Legg (Fayette Indictment 19-F-134)
Petitioner

Co Petitioners:

Patrick Bragg	19-F-74	Alisha A. Loeffler	19-F-135
Leslie P. Copeland	19-F-84	Steven M. Nowlin	19-F-142
Brittany N. Farrell	19-F-98	Joshua L. Pittman	19-F-145
Louis A, Figueroa	19-F-100	Windy D. Pittman	19-F-146
Blade Goodman	19-F-108	Tyler G. Randall	19-F-147
Rodger D. Hancock	19-F-118	Patricia A. Rivers	19-F-148
Brandon C. Johnson	19-F-124	Kevin M. Walton	19-F-152

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS

James Adkins (WV Bar # 9892)
Assistant Public Defender
Edward S. Stanton (WV Bar # 6299

QUESTION II
QUESTION III
QUESTION IV13-16
QUESTION V
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS¹

- For purposes of a crime under West Virginia Code §60A-4-414(b), is an Indictment specifically alleging a conspiracy involving a single defendant and only one other co-conspirator sufficient, under constitutional principles, to put the defendant on notice that he/she may be held responsible under section 4-414(f) for the quantity of drugs delivered or possessed with intent to deliver solely by the co-conspirator to other persons, who have also been charged in separate indictments to other persons, who have also been charged in separate indictments alleging a single conspiracy involving the same co-conspirator, when those other persons are not named in the indictment?
- II. For purposes of a crime under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b), does section 4-414(f) incorporate the common law principles that overt acts have to be in furtherance of the conspiracy before the jury can attribute to the defendant "all of the controlled substances manufactured, delivered or possessed with intent to deliver or manufacture by other participants or members of the conspiracy?"
- III. For purposes of the jury's determination under West Virginia Code § 60A-414(f), is evidence of an unindicted co-conspirator's drug transactions with others not named or identified in the Indictment admissible for the jury's consideration in determining the amount of controlled substances attributable to the Defendant for purposes of West Virginia Code §60A-4-414(b) subject to the knowing and foreseeable principles outlined in Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) and its progeny?
- IV. For purposes of a crime under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b), can the jury consider the volume of controlled substances distributed by the named, unindicted coconspirator as part of his separate conspiracies with others not named or identified in the Indictment for purposes of the jury's determination under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(f), even when the State does not intent to introduce evidence to show that the defendant had any connection or dealings with any of the unindicted co-conspirator's other alleged, separately indicted co-conspirators?

¹ This section 'Certified Questions' replaces 'Assignments of Error'

V. Where the Indictment charges a conspiracy in violation of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b) involving the defendant and only one other named, but unindicted coconspirator, may counsel for the defendant continue to represent similarly situated, but separately indicted defendants who were no named in the defendant's indictment but who are alleged to have had separate conspiracies with the same, named unindicted coconspirator as identified in the indictment, when the State seeks to offer evidence in the defendant's trial of drug transactions between the named, unindicted co-conspirator and the other separately indicted individuals for the jury to consider in determining the quantity of controlled substance attributed to the defendant under Wet Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(f)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE²³

The Petitioner was indicted by the May 2019 Fayette County Grand Jury for conspiracy to deliver or possess with intent to deliver; one kilogram or more of heroin; and/or fifty grams or more of methamphetamine; and/or a quantity of oxycodone under West Virginia Code §60A-4-414(b). The sole co-conspirator named in in indictment is Greg Coleman. [A.R. 1]

In October 2017, the Central West Virginia Drug Task Force began an investigation of Greg Coleman and Ryan Johnson after a confidential informant made controlled purchases of controlled substances from Coleman's Residence. On May 23, 2018 the United States Drug Enforcement Administration working with the Task Force obtained a Wire Intercept Order permitting them to listen to conversations of Greg Coleman, Ryan Johnson, and Bobby Mack.

[A.R. 13]

The wiretap conversations and surveillance of the subjects' residences revealed that Ryan Johnson bought heroin and oxycodone from James Terry and associates of Terry. Greg

² Citations to the Appendix Record are in the formant [A.R. Page#]

³ The correct number for a reference to the Appendix Record is the handwritten and circled number near the bottom center of each page, though individual documents contained in the Appendix Record may have received their own pagination at the time of creation.

Coleman bought heroin, oxycodone from Ryan Johnson and Bobby Mack. Coleman also bought oxycodone and methamphetamine from Gary Harvey and Carla and Terry Remy. [A.R. 13, 63]

The Petitioner(s) contacted Greg Coleman via telephone to arrange the purchase of controlled substances and would travel to Coleman's residence to procure drugs. [A.R.13-14]

Upon arrest, Greg Coleman gave a recorded statement to the DEA where he identified the Petitioner(s) as he was listening to his own recorded conversation(s). [A.R. 14, 43-48]

Coleman confessed to delivering over 16 kilograms of heroin during his statement to the DEA.

[A.R. 14]

The investigation revealed that Coleman had at least 20 retail customers and Johnson had at least 4 retail customers in addition to supplying Coleman. [A.R. 63]

The State does not have any evidence that the Petitioner(s) conspired with other

Fayette County indictees other than their primary "dealer" either Coleman or Johnson.

Individual Fayette County defendants may be acquainted with one another and may be aware that the other was purchasing drugs from Coleman. [A.R.14, 60-61]

The State has announced its intention to present evidence concerning Coleman's transactions with his other customers, other Fayette County indictees. [A.R. 19, 20] The State has also asserted a theory that because it is foreseeable that Coleman sold to other purchasers (State alleges redistributors), then the Petitioner is liable for the quantities of drugs sold to those other customers. [A.R. 19-20] The State has no specific evidence of controlled substance transactions conducted by the Petitioner other than his interactions with Coleman. [A.R. 22-23]

A total of 16 cases have been consolidated for a determination of answers to Certified Questions presented herein. [A.R. 64-69] Both the State and the Petitioner(s) have acknowledged that the quantity of drugs that the Petitioner purchased from Coleman, whether the Petitioner delivered drugs to others, and whether any delivery to others is a product of the Petitioner(s)'s agreement with Coleman is a matter for the jury. [A.R. 14]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The indictment for an alleged violation of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414 does not place the Petitioner on notice that he may be held responsible for the quantity of drugs delivered, manufactured, or possessed with intent to deliver because by the unindicted coconspirator, because the State has defined the scope of this conspiracy to include only alleged transactions between the Petitioner and the unindicted co-conspirator when it crafted the indictment and has admitted that the Petitioner does not interact with Coleman's other customers, co-petitioners in this combined case.

West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414 requires that overt acts be in furtherance of the conspiracy before the jury can attribute to the Petitioner all of the controlled substances, manufactured, delivered or possessed by another member of the conspiracy. Evidence of transactions should be excluded at trial when it is apparent from facts agreed to by the State and admitted in responses to pleadings, those transactions are not in furtherance of the conspiracy alleged.

Evidence of the unindicted co-conspirator's drug transactions with others is not attributable to the Petitioner for purposes of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414 under the knowing and foreseeable principles of *Pinkerton v. United States*, because based upon the facts

agreed to by the State and admitted in responses to pleadings, those transactions were not in furtherance of any alleged agreement between the Petitioner and the unindicted co-conspirator or of any benefit to the Petitioner.

Under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414, the jury may not consider the volume of drugs distributed by the unindicted co-conspirator to other not named in the indictment because based upon facts agreed to by the State and admitted to in response to pleadings, those transactions were done without the knowledge of the Petitioner and were of no benefit to the Petitioner.

In the event that the Court finds that the unindicted co-conspirator's transactions apart from the Petitioner are not relevant to the conspiracy alleged in the indictment and are inadmissible, then no conflict of interest exists. However, if the State is permitted to present evidence of the co-conspirator's transactions with people other than the Petitioner, the Public Defender's Office should withdraw and the Fayette County Circuit Court should appoint each co-Petitioner in this combined case, separate counsel.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This matter is already scheduled for a Rule 20 argument on Tuesday May 19, 2020.

ARGUMENT

I. For purposes of a crime under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b), is an indictment specifically alleging a conspiracy involving a single defendant and only one other coconspirator sufficient, under constitutional principles, to put the Defendant on notice that he/she may be held responsible under section 4-414(f) for the quantity of drugs delivered or possessed with intent to deliver solely by the co-conspirator to other persons, who have also been charged in separate indictments alleging a single conspiracy involving the same co-conspirator, when those other persons are not named in the indictment?

An indictment which names only the Petitioner and one named co-conspirator which alleges a violation of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b) is not sufficient to place the Petitioner on notice that he may be held responsible under § 4-414(f) for the quantity of drugs delivered or possessed with intent to deliver solely by the coconspirator to other persons, who have been charged in separate indictments alleging a single conspiracy involving the same co-conspirator, when those other persons are named in the indictment under the facts of this case because the State crafted the indictment to included only the Petitioner and Coleman as co-conspirators and has agreed that the Petitioner did not interact with other Fayette County indictees.

A variance between what was found in the Grand Jury's indictment may narrow, but may not broaden the charge(s) contained in the indictment. *U.S. v. Miller*, 471 U.S. 130, 144-145, 105 S.Ct. 1811, 1819 (1985).

Due to the stipulated facts and the State's responses to pleadings, the scope of this conspiracy is the alleged agreement or common scheme between the Petitioner and Coleman and the transactions alleged between Coleman and the Petitioner. Under the facts of this case, Coleman's procurement activities and transactions with his other customers are not a part of the conspiracy alleged in the indictment. [A.R. 1, 19-20]

Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 66 S.Ct. 1239, 90 L.Ed. 1557 (1946), is illustrative of the principle that in a conspiracy case where there a relatively large numbers of alleged conspirators and factually there may several conspiracies, though similar in nature, it is necessary to define to scope of the conspiracy or conspiracies alleged and apply proper joinder of both offenses and defendants.

In Kotteakos, 32 people were indicted for conspiring to violate the National Housing Act. If the 32 defendants, 19 proceeded to trial. Of that 19, 13 cases were submitted to the jury, 2 defendants were acquitted, 7 were found guilty and the jury disagreed on the remaining 4.

Each of the defendants had a relationship with a central figure, Brown, who would assist each in obtaining a fraudulent National Housing Act loan. *Id.* at 328 U.S. at 753

The issue was one of variance and the Court found that there was not a single conspiracy as alleged in the indictment, but several conspiracies, with the common actor in each being Brown, but no connection between the individuals or groups that apart from one another used Brown as an agent to procure loans. The Court noted that the Government has described the pattern as that of separate spokes meeting at a common center, though without the rim to enclose the spokes. *Id.* at 328 U.S. 754-55.

The Court reversed the conviction(s) due to a fatal variance between the single conspiracy alleged and the factual finding that there was not one large single conspiracy, but a series of smaller, yet similar in nature conspiracies. *Id.* at 772-77.

The State has pled in the indictment in this case a narrow conspiracy between the Petitioner and Coleman. The State has agreed that it has no evidence that the Petitioner interacted with other Fayette County indictees. The State is aware of the identities of

Coleman's suppliers and customers [A.R. 63, 19-20] and has elected not to name them in the indictment. In addition, the State has announced that it wishes to proceed under a theory because it is foreseeable that a drug dealer, Coleman, will sell to other customers, it wishes to present evidence of those transactions at the Petitioner's trial.[A.R. 19-20] Yet, the State has not pled in its responses any ability or intent to produce evidence that Coleman's sales to others (co-petitioners in this combined case), that those sales are part of the common scheme or plan alleged between the Petitioner and Coleman or of any mutual benefit between the Petitioner and Coleman.

The indictment only places the Petitioner on notice that he conspired with Greg Coleman.

The inchoate offense of conspiracy does not always have boundaries as concise as an underlying substantive offense, which in a controlled substance case, an underlying substantive offense might be traced to an act or acts of possession or one or more actual transactions.

While the boundaries of conspiracy are not as concise as an underlying substantive offense, they are also not so nebulous as to defy scope.

The scope of the alleged conspiracy is defined in part by the Indictment which in this case names only the Petitioner and the unindicted coconspirator Greg Coleman. However, in this case, the scope of the conspiracy is discernible due to the stipulated facts and states responses to pleadings. The facts are that there is no evidence of transactions between the Petitioner and other customers of Greg Coleman [A.R. 19-20]

Under *Pinkerton*, liability may stem when the acts of "coconspirators" are foreseeable.

However, the State has already agreed that there is not an evidentiary relationship between

Coleman's other customers, which have been indicted separately and the Petitioner. [A.R. 19-20]

Therefore, because the State has named only the Petitioner and Coleman in the indictment excluding all other actors, has agreed that the Petitioner did not transact with Coleman's suppliers or other customers and has not placed the Petitioner in notice that he may be held responsible under West Virginia Code §60-4-414(f) for the delivery of drugs by coconspirator Coleman to others no named in the indictment.

However, the trial court has relied on *United States v. Camara*, 908 F. 3d 41, 4th Cir. 2018) for the proposition that a Grand Jury's finding of the existence of a conspiracy, rather than the identity of the coconspirators is the essential element of a crime.

But, in *Camara*, at least the indictment pled unknown conspirators as members of the conspiracy. *Id.* at 908 F.3d 43-44. In this case, the identities of Coleman's suppliers and customers are known. The fact that there are no documented transactions between the Petitioner and Coleman's other customers is also known.

Therefore, due to the pleadings which name only the Petitioner and Coleman and the stipulated facts, in which the State admits that the Petitioner does not interact with Coleman's other customers, the Petitioner is not placed on notice that he may be held responsible for independent acts of the unindicted co-conspirator.

II. For purposes of a crime under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(B), does section § 4-414(f) incorporate the common law principal that overt acts have to be in furtherance of the conspiracy before the jury can attribute the defendant with "all of the controlled substances, manufactured, delivered or possessed with intent to deliver or manufacture by other participants or members of the conspiracy?"

Overt acts must be in furtherance of the conspiracy alleged between the Petitioner and the unindicted coconspirator before the jury can attribute the Petitioner with all of the other controlled substances, manufacture, delivered, or possessed with intent to deliver or manufacture by other participants or members of the conspiracy.

Independent acts by a member of a conspiracy, which are similar in nature (the purchase and sale of drugs) to the acts alleged in the conspiracy should not be attributed to an individual defendant (Petitioner) unless those acts were in furtherance of the conspiracy.

United States v. North, 960 F. 2d 131, 133-34 (8th Cir. 1990).

The issue in North was whether eight ounces of methamphetamine which codefendant Murphy attempted to sell to an undercover informant could be used to determine North's Base Offense Level for purpose of sentencing. The government argued that since Murphy and North were both guilty of a conspiracy and the purpose of that conspiracy was to sell cocaine and methamphetamine in the Northern District of Iowa then those eight ounces of methamphetamine should be attributed to North. *Id.* at 132-33. After a fact specific inquiry, the Eight Circuit concluded that Murphy's actions were independent of North's and Murphy's joint venture and vacated the district court's determination because it was based on an improper quantity of drugs which were not all within the scope of the conspiracy between Murphy and North.

Therefore, after a fact specific inquiry as to the scope of the conspiracy, over acts must be in furtherance of the conspiracy before a jury can attribute the Petitioner with all controlled substances delivered, manufactured, or possessed with intent to delivery by other members of the conspiracy.

III. For purposes of the jury's determination under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(f) is evidence of an unindicted co-conspirator's drug transactions not named or identified in the Indictment admissible for the jury's consideration in determining the amount of controlled substances attributable to the Defendant for purposes of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b) subject to knowing and foreseeable principles outlined in Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) and its progeny.

Evidence of an unindicted co-conspirator's drugs transactions with persons not named or identified in the indictment is not admissible for the jury's consideration in determining the amount of controlled substances attributable to the Petitioner for the purposes of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-424(f) subject to the knowing and foreseeable principles outlined in *Pinkerton v. United States*, 328 U.S. 640 (1946) and it's progeny unless those transactions are in furtherance of the conspiracy charged within the indictment.

Independent acts of a coconspirator of which the Petitioner had, no knowledge, received no benefit from, and did not participate cannot be considered to have been in furtherance of their conspiracy. See *United States v. Tarantino*, 846 F. 2d 1384, 1393 (D.C. Cir., cert denied, 488 U.S. 867, 109 S.Ct. 174, 102 L.Ed. 143 (1988).

The vicarious liability where a defendant is liable for the acts of his coconspirator is recognized in *United States v. Pinkerton*, where two brothers, Walter and Daniel Pinkerton where charged with conspiracy and ten counts of the substantive offense of concealing commodities subject to taxation. *United States v. Pinkerton*, 328 U.S. at 641 The evidence in

the case showed that: there was an agreement to commit the substantive offenses; Walter Pinkerton committed the substantive offenses; and there was no evidence that Daniel Pinkerton directly participated in the commission of the substantive offenses. *Id.* at 328 U.S. 645-47. In upholding Daniel Pinkerton's conviction, the Court noted that there was no evidence of affirmative action on the part of Daniel to withdraw from the conspiracy. The Court upheld the conviction reasoning that the act(s) in furtherance of the conspiracy committed by one conspirator was attributable to the other. *Id.* at 328 U.S. at 646-47.

However, the court in Pinkerton acknowledged limitations on vicarious liability when it stated, a different case would arise if the substantive offense committed by one of the conspirators was not in fact done in furtherance of the conspiracy, did not fall within the scope of the unlawful project, or was merely a part of the ramifications of the plan which could not be reasonably foreseen as a necessary or natural consequence of the unlawful agreement. *Id.* at 328 U.S. at 647-48.

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