IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 19-0875

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff below, Respondent,

V.

JUSTIN K. LEGG,

Defendant below, Petitioner.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT E. JOHNSON
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
West Virginia State Bar No. 6335
Office of the Attorney General
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
Tel: (304) 558-5830
Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: Scott.E.Johnson@wvago.gov

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court has certified five questions to this Court. The circuit court answered questions 1 through 4 in the affirmative and answered certified question 5 in the negative. Likewise, this Court should answer questions 1 through 4 in the affirmative and question 5 in the negative.

First, the circuit court correctly found that in a conspiracy indictment, the indictment need not name or identify any of the co-conspirators. The circuit court also correctly found that any claims raised by Mr. Legg relating to any alleged variance in the indictment is premature because a variance is a matter of proof and not pleading so a claim of variance is not ripe until after all the evidence is introduced at trial.

Second, the circuit court correctly found that a defendant is only liable under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(f) for the amount of controlled substances manufactured, delivered or possessed with intent to deliver or manufacture by other participants or members of the conspiracy charged in the indictment. This is consistent not only with the language of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414, but general conspiracy law as well.

Third, the circuit court also correctly found an unindicted co-conspirator's drug transactions with others not identified in the indictment is admissible for the jury's consideration in determining the amount of controlled substances attributable to a defendant under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b). The circuit court also found that this is subject to the knowing and foreseeability principles contained in *Pinkerton v. United States*, 328 U.S. 640 (1946).

Fourth, the circuit court correctly found that evidence of other sales between Coleman and unnamed co-conspirators is relevant to demonstrating the existence of the conspiracy of which Mr. Legg was alleged to be a member.

Finally, given that the answer to the preceding certified questions was yes, the circuit court correctly concluded that the Fayette County Public Defender's Office cannot represent Mr. Legg and other separately indicted defendants growing out of the Coleman conspiracy as such continued representation would constitute a conflict of interest for the Public Defender.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case is set for oral argument before this Court on May 19, 2020. This case is not suitable for memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

The standard of review for this certified questions case is de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W. Va. 172, 172, 475 S.E.2d 172, 172 (1996) ("The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is de novo.").

A. This Court should answer the first certified question in the affirmative as an indictment need not name any of the defendant's co-conspirators and any questions relating to a claimed variance in the indictment is not ripe for review in a certified question.

The circuit court answered the first certified question in the affirmative by concluding that (1) an indictment for conspiracy does not need to identify all the members of the conspiracy in the indictment and (2) that it was premature to determine whether a fatal variance exists between the indictment in this case and the evidence the State may offer at trial. A.R. 6-7. These were correct conclusions.

1. A conspiracy indictment need not contain the names or identities of all, or any, of the co-conspirators.

Mr. Legg's indictment in this case reads:

The Grand Jurors of the State of West Virginia, in and for the body of the County of Fayette, upon their oaths and now attending the said Court, present that JUSTIN K. LEGG between the 29th day of May 2018 and the 16th day of July 2018, in the said County of Fayette, committed the offense of "conspiracy," in that the said JUSTIN K. LEGG, did unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously conspire with Greg Coleman, an unindicted co-conspirator, to deliver or possess with the intent to deliver: one kilogram or more of heroin; and/or fifty grams or more of methamphetamine; and/or a quantity of oxycodone; and the said JUSTIN K. LEGG and/or Greg Coleman did act to effect the object of the conspiracy, against the peace and dignity of the State.

W. Va. Code § 60A-4-414(b)

W. Va. Code § 60A-4-414(a)

A.R. 1.

The indictment in this case alleged Mr. Legg violated the conspiracy section of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. Under that Code section, W. Va. Code § 60A-4-414(a) (footnote added):

Any person who willfully conspires with one or more persons to commit a felony violation of section four hundred one² of this article, if one or more of such persons does any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned in a state correctional facility for a determinate sentence of not less than two nor more than ten years: Provided, That the provisions of this subsection are inapplicable to felony violations of section four hundred one of this article prohibiting the manufacture, delivery or possession with intent to manufacture or deliver marijuana.

West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(b) provides:

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, any person who willfully conspires with one or more persons to manufacture, deliver or possess with intent to manufacture or deliver one kilogram or more of heroin, five kilograms or more of cocaine or cocaine base, one hundred grams or more of phencyclidine, ten grams or more of lysergic acid diethylamide, or fifty grams or more of methamphetamine or five hundred grams of a substance or material containing a measurable amount of methamphetamine, if one or more of such persons does any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned in a state correctional facility for a determinate sentence of not less than two nor more than thirty years.

The first certified question in this case asks if the indictment in this case was constitutionally sufficient even though it did not list the names or identities of all the co-conspirators comprising the alleged conspiracy. A.R. 5-6. The circuit court properly answered this question in the affirmative.

Article III, § 14 of the West Virginia Constitution provides, in pertinent part, "[i]n all [criminal trials], the accused shall be fully and plainly informed of the character and cause of the accusation[.]" "The purpose of an indictment is to plainly inform the defendant of the nature of

²West Virginia Code § 60A-4-401(a) provides, "[e]xcept as authorized by this act, it is unlawful for any person to manufacture, deliver, or possess with intent to manufacture or deliver, a controlled substance."

the crime charged and to protect him against further or double jeopardy." State v. Bull, 204 W. Va. 255, 263, 512 S.E.2d 177, 185 (1998). Thus, an indictment need only "be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." W. Va. R. Crim. P. 7(c)(1). Consequently, "[a]n indictment need only meet minimal constitutional standards, and the sufficiency of an indictment is determined by practical rather than technical considerations." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 593, 476 S.E.2d 535, 540 (1996). This Court has held:

An indictment is sufficient under Article III, § 14 of the West Virginia Constitution and W. Va. R. Crim. P. 7(c)(1) if it (1) states the elements of the offense charged; (2) puts a defendant on fair notice of the charge against which he or she must defend; and (3) enables a defendant to assert an acquittal or conviction in order to prevent being placed twice in jeopardy.

Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Wallace, 205 W. Va. 155, 517 S.E.2d 20 (1999). The indictment in this case was sufficient even though it did not name or identify all the co-conspirators in the alleged conspiracy.

"Conspiracy requires an agreement—and in particular an agreement to do an unlawful act—between or among two or more separate persons." Ziglar v. Abbasi, 137 S. Ct. 1843, 1867 (2017). "The agreement to commit an offense is the essential element of the crime of conspiracy—it is the conduct prohibited by the statute." State v. Less, 170 W. Va. 259, 265, 294 S.E.2d 62, 67 (1981). Therefore, "[i]t is well established that the unlawful agreement is the essential element which is the gist or essence of the crime of conspiracy even in those jurisdictions where an overt act is required to render a conspiracy subject to criminal prosecution." 16 Am. Jur. 2d Conspiracy § 10 (footnotes omitted). Thus, in a conspiracy indictment, it is the agreement—rather than the identity of the participants—that is crucial in drafting an indictment. "The existence of the conspiracy, rather than the particular identity of the conspirators, is the essential element of the

crime." United States v. Am. Waste Fibers Co., 809 F.2d 1044, 1046 (4th Cir. 1987). Consequently, "[a] defendant may be indicted and convicted despite the names of his co-conspirators remaining unknown, as long as the government presents evidence to establish an agreement between two or more persons, a prerequisite to obtaining a conspiracy conviction." United States v. Rey, 923 F.2d 1217, 1222 (6th Cir. 1991). As the United States Supreme Court has explained, "at least two persons are required to constitute a conspiracy, but the identity of the other members of the conspiracy is not needed, inasmuch as one person can be convicted of conspiring with persons whose names are unknown." Rogers v. United States, 340 U.S. 367, 375 (1951). In short, "the government need not identify any co-conspirators." United States v. Camara, 908 F.3d 41, 46 (4th Cir. 2018) (emphasis in original). The circuit court correctly found that an indictment for conspiracy need not name all the co-conspirators.

2. The lack of restrictive or expansive conspiracy language in the indictment in this case does not void the indictment and the indictment should be read as an expansive one.

Admittedly, conspiracy indictments usually contain either restrictive language (that co-conspirators named in the indictment conspired "with each other") or expansive language (that the named co-conspirators in the indictment conspired "with others known and unknown"). *United States v. Pingleton*, 216 F. App'x 526, 529 (6th Cir. 2007). In the instant case, the Indictment contains neither restrictive nor expansive language. A.R. 1. This, though, is not fatal to the indictment.

In *United States v. Pingleton*, 216 F. App'x 526 (6th Cir. 2007), Count 1 of an indictment provided, "'Johnny E. Pingleton and John E. Rodefer did conspire to knowingly and intentionally manufacture fifty grams or more of methamphetamine." *Id.* at 528. Pingleton argued that this language alleged that he and Rodefer conspired with each other and no one else. *Id.* At trial, the judge permitted the government to introduce evidence of a conspiracy concerning other persons

and so instructed the jury. *Id.* Pingleton complained that this was an impermissible constructive amendment of the indictment. *Id.* at 528–29. The appeals court applied a de novo review and disagreed. *Id.* at 529.

While the appeals court was "troubled by the atypical wording the government employed here and d[id] not sanction the future use of similarly phrased indictments," "under the particular circumstances of this case, [it] conclude[d] the indictment charge[ed] a conspiracy involving two or more persons." Id.

The appeals court first observed the prosecution provided Pingleton with discovery evidence that indicated the charged conspiracy was not limited to him and Rodefer. *Id.* The appeals court next concluded that "not to construe this indictment to charge a conspiracy involving two or more persons might create tension with the general rule that the prosecution need not furnish co-conspirators' names as long as the defendant has notice of the conspiracy with which he is charged." *Id.*

Like Pingleton, Mr. Legg is on notice the State is going to try to hold him criminally liable for the distribution of controlled substances by Mr. Coleman to others besides Mr. Legg. As the State asserted in response to the Defendant's Motion in Limine to not hold Mr. Legg liable for distribution of more than one kilogram of heroin:

In this case, the State Indicted [sic] this defendant for conspiring with Greg Coleman to distribute a quantity of heroin, over one kilogram. Mr. Coleman admitted he distributed over one kilogram of heroin in Fayette County, and through this defendant as well as others charged in similar Indictments—redistributed that heroin. While this defendant may not have distributed over one kilogram of heroin himself, legally he is responsible for the heroin that Mr. Coleman distributed as part of the overall conspiracy to redistribute because he acted in furtherance of the conspiracy by repackaging and reselling the heroin that Mr. Coleman sold him.

This defendant knew that Mr. Coleman distributed large quantities of heroin because that is what this defendant bought from Mr. Coleman and then redistributed to his own customers. In the case at bar, it is reasonable to believe that this defendant knew or could foresee that he was not Mr. Coleman's only redistributor, Based on his business dealings with Mr. Coleman, this defendant could reasonably foresee that the distribution of heroin by Mr. Coleman was on a larger scale than that of just the heroin bought from Mr. Coleman by the defendant.

A.R. 19-20.

And, like the appeals court in *Pingleton*, this Court should be reticent to create tension with the general rule that the identity of co-conspirators need not be contained in an indictment.

3. Mr. Legg's reliance on Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750 (1946) is misplaced.

Mr. Legg relies on *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750 (1946). Pet'r Br. at 7-8. This reliance on *Kotteakos* is misplaced at this time because *Kotteakos* was a variance case and variance claims cannot be addressed pretrial.

In Kotteakos, the indictment charged a single conspiracy but the evidence at trial established multiple conspiracies. 328 U.S. at 755 ("The proof therefore admittedly made out a case, not of a single conspiracy, but of several, notwithstanding only one was charged in the indictment."). The Supreme Court found that the variance was not harmless error. Id. at 776.

Any reliance on *Kotteakos* is misplaced because, in that case, the Supreme Court was confronting a variance issue. "A variance arises when the evidence adduced at trial establishes facts different from those alleged in an indictment." *Dunn v. United States*, 442 U.S. 100, 105 (1979). *See generally* 41 Am. Jur. 2d *Indictments and Informations* § 242 ("A 'variance' occurs when the evidence presented at trial proves facts different from those alleged in the information or indictment."). Thus, a variance cannot be addressed pretrial because "by definition, a variance cannot arise prior to the close of proof in a criminal trial." *United States v. Walker*, 514 F. Supp. 294, 302 (E.D. La. 1981). In other words, the existence of a variance must be determined by comparing evidence adduced *at trial* against what is alleged in the indictment; a "Court cannot

prospectively determine the existence of a variance." *United States v. Walker*, 514 F. Supp. 294, 302 n.2 (E.D. La. 1981).

Thus, as the circuit court concluded in its certified question order:

If the evidence presented at trial related to the scope and nature of the conspiracy for purposes of W. Va. Code § 60A-4-414(f) varies from the allegations in the Indictment, the issue is a matter of variance to be addressed on a motion for judgment of acquittal, not pre-trial dismissal.

A.R. 6-7. The circuit court correctly concluded that the issue of a variance is not ripe in this case and is not properly subject to a pretrial proceeding.

For the above reasons, this Court should answer the first certified question in the affirmative.

B. This Court should answer the second certified question in the affirmative because under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-414(f), the amount of controlled substances attributable to the defendant by other co-conspirators is limited to the amount distributed as part of the conspiracy charged in the indictment under which the defendant is being tried.

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